# **Supreme Court Copy**

S181627

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN DIAZ,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPPEME COURT

٧.

APR - 6 2010

JOSE CARCAMO and SUGAR TRANSPORT OF THE NORTHWEST HOUSE, K. Ohlrich Clerk

Defendants, Appellants, and Petitioners.

Deputy

Petition from a Published Opinion, Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six, No. B211127

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of Ventura County, No. CIV 241085, Hon. Frederick Bysshe

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul E. B. Glad (#79045)
David R. Simonton (#199919)
SONNENSCHEIN NATH &
ROSENTHAL LLP
525 Market Street, 26th Fl.
San Francisco, CA 94105
Telephone: (415) 882-5000

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Does an employer's admission of respondeat superior liability for the alleged negligence of an employee in operating a motor vehicle bar a plaintiff from introducing inflammatory evidence regarding the employee's driving record and employment history to prove an alternative theory of employer liability, as this Court held in *Armenta v. Churchill* (1954) 42 Cal.2d 448 (*Armenta*) and the Fourth District reaffirmed in *Jeld-Wen*, *Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 853 (*Jeld-Wen*)? Or is the *Armenta* rule limited to negligent entrustment actions not involving the allocation of fault required by Proposition 51, as the Court of Appeal here held, even though this would contravene the purpose of the rule, no allocation is possible between an employer and employee once respondeat superior liability is admitted, and *Jeld-Wen* rejected both of these purported limitations?

## WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted in this case to resolve an important, recurring issue on which Court of Appeal decisions are in direct conflict: the scope and continued viability of the *Armenta* rule. (Compare *Jeld-Wen*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 865-871 with the opinion attached at Appendix A ("Opn."), at pp. 5-12.)

For more than 50 years, the rule in California has been that if an employer admits respondent superior liability for an employee driver's negligence in causing an accident, the plaintiff cannot pursue alternative theories of employer liability that would allow the plaintiff to introduce evidence of the employee's prior accidents, poor driving record, or poor character. (*Armenta*, *supra*, 42 Cal.2d at pp. 456-458; *Jeld-Wen*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 869-871.) The purpose of the *Armenta* rule,

adopted by a majority of jurisdictions that have addressed the issue, is to promote judicial economy and protect the reliability of the trial process. Allowing plaintiffs to introduce character evidence to prove theories of negligent hiring, retention, or entrustment distracts the jury from its task of determining responsibility for the accident at issue. (See Evid. Code, §§ 1101, 1104.) The rule prevents plaintiffs from doing indirectly what they cannot directly do—influence the jury to find against the employee driver based on evidence of his character for lack of care or skill—while at the same time preserving plaintiffs' rights to be made whole through respondeat superior liability.

In this case, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six (Perren, J., with Gilbert, P.J., and Coffee, J., conc.) issued a published opinion that directly contravenes the evidentiary rule *Armenta* announced. The court held that *Armenta* applies in negligent entrustment actions, not negligent hiring and retention actions. (Opn. at p. 5.) This is a distinction without a difference, however, because these theories are functionally equivalent and substantively indistinguishable in the context of vehicular accident lawsuits against employees and their employers. Moreover, the evidentiary policy underlying the *Armenta* rule and Evidence Code section 1104 applies regardless of the theory of direct negligence at issue. If plaintiffs can plead around the rule simply by alleging negligent hiring rather than negligent entrustment, *Armenta* will be a dead letter.

The opinion also creates conflicts in the Court of Appeal. The holding that the *Armenta* rule is limited to negligent entrustment actions directly conflicts with the Fourth District's decision in *Jeld-Wen*, which held that the rule applies *whenever* an employer admits respondent superior liability for the alleged negligence of an employee. (*Jeld-Wen*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 868.) The court below also held that the *Armenta* 

rule does not apply if a jury must determine comparative fault under Proposition 51. (Opn. at pp. 5-6, 12.) This too is directly contrary to the Fourth District's holding that the enactment of comparative liability principles in Proposition 51 has not adversely affected the *Armenta* rule. (*Jeld-Wen*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 870-871.) Indeed, regardless of the allocation of fault for noneconomic damages, an employer that admits respondeat superior liability will always be liable for the entire amount of damages caused by an employee's negligence.

ş

If left unresolved, the conflict between the Court of Appeal's decision in this case and the decision in Jeld-Wen will leave litigants and trial courts in uncertainty as to whether and when Armenta applies. Jeld-Wen disagreed with an earlier Fourth District opinion regarding the scope of the holding in Armenta, which will add to the confusion. The Armenta rule is potentially at issue in thousands of actions filed each year in California concerning accidents involving employee drivers. To the extent trial courts follow the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case, the result will be longer, less focused trials with less reliable outcomes. Litigation costs will also rise, with more discovery into employees' prior accidents, driving record, employment history, and character, as well as employers' practices with regard to hiring, training, supervising, and retaining employees. The opinion could even reduce traffic safety by giving employers a perverse incentive to replace experienced commercial drivers with untested ones who, by virtue of their lack of experience, have completely clean driving records.

This petition presents a unique opportunity to resolve the conflicts in the Court of Appeal's decisions with respect to the *Armenta* rule. Three panels have reached contradictory conclusions about whether *Armenta* is controlling, the scope of its holding, and whether the enactment of comparative liability principles in Proposition 51 has affected that holding. The opinion below squarely presents all of these issues, and will allow this Court to bring much-needed uniformity to the law on this important question. At a minimum, the Court should grant review and transfer the case to the Court of Appeal with instructions to apply the *Armenta* rule.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### A. The Accident

\*

This action concerns injuries that plaintiff and respondent Dawn Diaz sustained in a freeway accident in which a pickup truck driven by defendant Karen Tagliaferri collided first with a Sugar Transport truck driven by defendant and appellant Jose Carcamo and then with Diaz's vehicle.

The accident occurred while Carcamo was driving north in the middle lane of the 101 freeway. (9 RT 1436:14-28.) The one neutral eyewitness, Rose Gamboa, described the events leading up to the accident as follows. Tagliaferri was driving behind Carcamo in the middle lane at about the same speed. Surrounding traffic was light. Tagliaferri then accelerated, moved into the fast lane, and went past Carcamo. Without signaling, Tagliaferri pulled back into the middle lane but "didn't quite clear" the front of Carcamo's truck. Tagliaferri spun out of control, flew over the center median, and landed on top of a southbound car driven by plaintiff Diaz. (2 RT 271:7-284:16, 311:12-312:8.) A report prepared by the California Highway Patrol contained a nearly identical description (3 RT 512:5-523:8), and Carcamo's testimony was consistent (9 RT 1433:19-1437:7). Tagliaferri had no recollection of what happened. (2 RT 328:12-21.)

One of Diaz's theories of liability was that Carcamo may have accelerated while Tagliaferri was passing him, to "close the gap." No direct evidence supported this theory. Gamboa testified that Carcamo maintained a consistent speed (2 RT 318:2-11), and Carcamo flatly denied trying to cut Tagliaferri off (9 RT 1416:1-12). Diaz argued that Sugar Transport's loss of tachographic evidence supported an inference that Carcamo was speeding (10 RT 1554:24-1558:21, 1645:19-28), and presented evidence to suggest that Carcamo should have been driving in the right lane, was inattentive, and should have slowed down when Tagliaferri moved into the left lane (4 RT 743:13-27; 5 RT 829:25-830:15; 6 RT 953:11-954:4; 8 RT 1276:11-1277:14, 1355:10-22; 9 RT 1413:28-1414:6, 1419:12-25, 1420:16-1421:5, 1423:22-1424:3, 1425:3-19).

## B. Sugar Transport Admits Liability for Any Negligence by its Driver

Diaz sued Tagliaferri, Carcamo, and Sugar Transport, alleging Carcamo had "act[ed] within the course . . . of [his] . . . employment" with Sugar Transport. (1 CT 2, ¶ 6.) Diaz also alleged that Sugar Transport had negligently "entrusted, permitted use of, bailed, [and] controlled" the truck. (Id. at 3-4, ¶¶ 9, 15, italics added.) At trial, Diaz's attorneys rephrased the theory of liability as negligent hiring and negligent retention. (2 RT 444:17-445:9.)

From early in the litigation, Sugar Transport admitted respondeat superior liability for Carcamo's actions. In verified responses to Diaz's form interrogatories, Sugar Transport admitted that "Carcamo was given permission to operate the Sugar Transport truck by Sugar Transport of the Northwest LLC, as it was his job to operate that truck." (4 CT 878:22-24, italics added.) At trial, Sugar Transport formally stipulated that Carcamo was acting in the course and scope of his employment, and that Sugar

Transport was liable for any negligence by Carcamo. (2 RT 432:8-21.) Immediately after the stipulation was put on the record, Diaz's attorney acknowledged that Sugar Transport's vicarious liability had never been disputed: "[T]hey are agreeing to—that it's respondent superior. *That's never been an issue.*" (2 RT 434:7-8, italics added.)

#### C. The Evidence at Trial

Despite Sugar Transport's stipulation to respondeat superior liability and its repeated objection that the *Armenta* rule precluded plaintiff from pursuing negligent hiring and retention theories of liability (2 RT 430:15-432:7, 434:16-437:13, 443:2-9; 451:4-16), the trial court allowed plaintiff to offer evidence at trial that Sugar Transport was liable under those theories (2 RT 453:3-21).

Over objection, Diaz introduced evidence that Carcamo had several on-the-job accidents before the January 20, 2006 accident at issue, including one in 1999, for which Carcamo was sued and found "at fault," and another on January 4, 2006, while he was with Sugar Transport. Diaz questioned multiple witnesses about the reference form Sugar Transport received from one of Carcamo's prior employers. Among other things, the form indicated that Carcamo had been involved in two accidents, had a "poor" ranking for "[s]afety habits," and that the prior employer would not rehire him. In response to Diaz's questions, her expert on negligent hiring testified that he had never seen such a poor evaluation in 45 years. (2 RT 473:1-21.) Diaz also introduced a copy of Carcamo's entire driver

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 2 RT 242:19-243:21, 428:1-10, 454:18-456:23; 6 RT 994:7-16, 1038:25-1039:14; 7 RT 1073:3-1075:25; 9 RT 1366:6-21, 1374:6-18, 1392:13-24, 1400:5-1406:20; 5 CT 1080-1082, 1131-1133; Ex. 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2 RT 467:5-468:24; 4 RT 729:21-730:3; 6 RT 1009:25-1010:12; 5 CT 1134-1135, 1166; Exs. 13, 81.

qualification file and solicited testimony from numerous witnesses about its contents.<sup>3</sup>

Diaz also used the negligent hiring and retention theories to go through Carcamo's employment history in detail, highlighting the most inflammatory evidence. For example, Diaz repeatedly forced Carcamo to admit that he had used a "phony" Social Security number in the past, because of his status as an illegal alien. (9 RT 1380:4-1384:22, 1392:6-8, 1438:25-27.) Diaz emphasized that Carcamo had been fired by previous employers and, between jobs, returned to "his country" of Honduras. (9 RT 1389:1-1390:25, 1393:8-19, 1399:14-26.) Diaz introduced evidence that Carcamo had filed multiple claims for workers' compensation and unemployment benefits, and that he and his wife had filed for bankruptcy. (9 RT 1379:9-16, 1382:13-22, 1384:15-1386:14, 1388:18-1390:9, 1393:8-1395:19.)

Diaz also questioned Sugar Transport's employees at length about the company's procedures for screening job applicants generally and as applied to Carcamo. (6 RT 1004:18-1005:6, 1007:21-1015:12, 1038:2-12.) Likewise, Tagliaferri's counsel took Sugar Transport to task for failing to take additional steps to verify whether Carcamo "had any prior at-fault motor vehicle accidents." (6 RT 1032:24-1034:9; 7 RT 1154:23-26, 1156:21-1157:27.) Based on this evidence, Diaz's expert on negligent hiring described Sugar Transport's screening procedures as violating industry standards, as well as California and federal regulations. (2 RT 346:1-347:15, 363:8-366:3, 369:19-371:25, 393:1-395:2, 462:4-475:1;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 2 RT 371:26-373:12, 375:9-378:10, 384:7-390:7, 393:8-394:26, 425:19-426:12; 4 RT 730:4-13; 5 RT 776:6-16; 6 RT 1014:1-1015:12, 1026:8-1027:21, 1038:25-1039:14; 7 RT 1063:21-1066:10; 9 RT 1380:4-12, 1383:1-18, 1386:20-1387:15, 1392:25-1396:25; 5 CT at 1074-1079, 1134-1184; Ex. 13.

5 RT 778:4-25.) Over Sugar Transport's objection, the expert opined that, based on what Sugar Transport knew, it should not have hired Carcamo. (2 RT 474:19-475:1.)

In closing arguments, Diaz's attorney concentrated on the negligent hiring and retention theories, highlighting evidence that Carcamo had the character of an unsafe driver. He argued that Sugar Transport "puts profits over safety" by hiring "unsafe drivers," so it could "put bodies behind the wheel" and "put checks in the bank." (10 RT 1554:8-14, 1565:12-1566:7; 1569:1-1572:5.) He condemned Sugar Transport's hiring practices as insufficient to "protect you or me or anyone else," and warned that Sugar Transport would continue to put unsafe drivers "behind the wheel . . . right next to you or me or your family or Dawn Diaz[.]" (10 RT 1553:2-21.) He implored the jury to teach Sugar Transport a lesson about "safety" and "moral responsibility," and to "tell them that this is not the way the folks in Ventura, in Southern California, expect the trucking companies to operate[.]" (10 RT 1553:16-28, 1573:18-21.)

#### D. Jury Instructions, Verdict, and Post-Trial Motions

Appellants objected to Diaz's proposed instruction on negligent hiring and retention, again urging that those theories of liability were unavailable because Sugar Transport stipulated to vicarious liability. As support, appellants once again highlighted *Jeld-Wen*, as well as this Court's prior decision in *Armenta*. (1 CT 212-219.) The trial court overruled the objections (10 RT 1695:2-1696:27) and instructed the jury on Diaz's negligent hiring and retention theory (2 CT 250, 270-271). Among other elements, the instruction asked whether Sugar Transport "knew or should have known . . . that Jose Carcamo was unfit to perform the duties for

which he was employed and that he would pose an undue risk of harm to persons such as the plaintiff Dawn Diaz[.]" (2 CT 270; 10 RT 1665:2-22.)

The jury rendered its verdict, finding both Carcamo and Tagliaferri negligent. (2 CT 332-335.) With respect to Sugar Transport, the jury found that it negligently hired and retained Carcamo, but that only the negligent retention was a substantial factor in causing Diaz's damages. (2 CT 333-334.) The jury allocated 20% of fault to Carcamo (for which Sugar Transport was vicariously liable), another 35% to Sugar Transport (for negligent retention), and the remaining 45% to Tagliaferri. (2 CT 334.) Effectively, the verdict imposed a combined 55% of the fault on Sugar Transport.

The total damage award was \$22,566,373, including \$17,566,373 in economic damages and \$5,000,000 in noneconomic damages. (2 CT 334.) The Court entered judgment (2 CT 430-435), and appellants moved for a new trial (4 CT 728-782). Although acknowledging that the *Jeld-Wen* decision presented a "difficult question" (10 RT 1763:6-18), the trial court denied appellants' motion (5 CT 1048-1051.)

### E. The Appeal

Sugar Transport and Carcamo appealed, raising as a ground of error the trial court's admission of evidence of negligent hiring and retention, as well as the instruction of the jury on these theories, despite Sugar Transport's admission of liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior. Appellants also challenged the trial court's instruction of the jury on "spoliation of evidence." (Appellants' Opening Brief, at p. 1.) On February 25, 2010, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in all respects. (Opn. at p. 15.)

With respect to the evidence of negligent hiring and retention, the Court of Appeal held that "neither *Armenta* nor *Jeld-Wen* is controlling or persuasive" because both cases involved negligent *entrustment* claims and "[m]ore importantly" neither case dealt with the allocation of fault required by Proposition 51. (Opn. at pp. 5-6.) The court distinguished negligent hiring on the ground that it is a *direct* theory of liability (Opn. at pp. 5-8) and noted that evidence of Carcamo's employment and driving history had substantial probative value in determining whether Sugar Transport had negligently hired him (Opn. at pp. 10-11). The court held that the apportionment of fault for noneconomic damages required under Civil Code section 1431.1 would have been impossible without such evidence, a circumstance not present when this Court decided *Armenta*. (Opn. at p. 12.) On March 29, 2010, the court summarily denied appellants' petition for rehearing and made a minor, nonsubstantive modification to the opinion. (See Appendix B.)

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

# I. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE CONFLICTS IN THE COURT OF APPEAL AS TO THE SCOPE OF THE ARMENTA RULE

#### A. Armenta

In *Armenta*, this Court addressed the issue of whether evidence of an employee's previous auto accidents is admissible to prove that an employer negligently entrusted a vehicle to an employee after the employer admits vicarious liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior. The Court answered in the negative, concluding that the direct theory of employer liability had no continuing validity once the employer admitted vicarious liability for the employee's allegedly negligent driving. (*Armenta*, *supra*, 42 Cal.2d at pp. 456-458.)

In *Armenta*, the plaintiff sued a wife and husband employeremployee team, under two theories of liability: negligence of the employee-husband in driving a truck while acting within the scope of his employment, and negligence of the employer-wife in entrusting the truck to her husband. In support of the negligent entrustment claim, the plaintiff sought to introduce evidence that the employee-husband had 37 prior traffic violations, including a manslaughter conviction. The wife had admitted before trial and again at trial that her husband was driving the truck in the course of his employment. (*Id.* at p. 456.)

Based on these admissions, this Court held that a theory of negligent entrustment had no continuing legal validity. The Court noted that the wife's admission of vicarious liability "was not directly responsive to plaintiff's added allegations of fact contained in the second count relating to her personal negligence." (Id. at p. 457, italics added.) The Court explained, however, that negligent entrustment was an "alternative theor[y]" under which the plaintiff was seeking to impose "the same legal liability" as might be imposed on the employee—i.e., the liability arising from the allegedly negligent driving. (Id. at p. 457 ["Plaintiffs could not have recovered against [the employer] upon either count in the absence of a finding of liability upon the part of [the employee] ...."].) Once the employer admitted vicarious liability for the employee's conduct, "the legal issue of her liability for the alleged tort was . . . removed from the case[.]" (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, evidence of the employee's prior traffic violations was properly excluded, because "there was no material issue remaining to which [that] evidence could be legitimately directed." (*Id.* at pp. 457-458.)

#### B. Syah

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