# **Supreme Court Copy**

S181627 B211127

IN THE

## SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT **FILED** 

DAWN DIAZ,

APR 19 2010

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

vs.

# JOSE CARCAMO, SUGAR TRANSPORT OF THE NORTHWEST, LLC., and SCAN-VINO, LLC dba CHEROKEE FREIGHT LINES,

Defendants, Appellants, and Petitioners.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROLAND WRINKLE — SBN 73237 GRASSINI & WRINKLE

20750 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 221 Woodland Hills, CA 91364-6235 (818) 348-1717 mail@grassiniandwrinkle.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

# S181627 B211127

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

deal with the allocation of fault required by Proposition 51" (Opinion, pp. 5-6), it was spot on. Where was the "allocation of fault" in *Jeld-Wen*? Here, it was 45%, 35% and 20%. Where was the assertion of the reduction in *Jeld-Wen*? It did not exist—the defendant employer asserted its "inapplicability." Here, Sugar Transport gleefully took \$2,250,000 off the judgment. *Jeld-Wen* did not deal with such an allocation. The Court of Appeal was right and Sugar Transport was wrong.

Petitioner believes it profound (or at least meaningful) that it "located no published California decision that has found negligent hiring or retention liability in a context where respondeat superior applies" and "[t]his appears to hold true in other states as well" citing *Cook v. Greyhound Lines, Inc.* (D.Minn. 1994) 847 F.Supp. 725, 733, and *Tindall v. Enderle* (Ind.Ct.App. 1974) 320 N.E.2d 764, 767-768). (Petition, p. 18.)

Of course! Until this case (and its successive wave of defense attorneys) came along, there has not been (and, most likely never will be) an employer/defendant who has: (1) so thoroughly waived the issue; and (2) insists on reducing its liability by apportioning a universe of fault that inexplicably excludes any consideration of its own fault. The defendant/employer in *Cook* did not do so. The defendant/employer in *Tindall* did not do so. None of Petitioner's amici who (improperly) filed amicus curiae letters before the Court of Appeal urging a rehearing attempted to do so. Only the Petitioner

tried to have its cake and eat it too. That is why it stands alone.<sup>7</sup>

It is sheer sophistry for Petitioner to assert, "In effect, the court [of appeal here] held that the *Armenta* rule no longer has any application after the enactment of Proposition 51." (Petition, p. 20.) It is not the "enactment of Proposition 51" which affected the application of *Armenta* here. It was defendant's decision to ram home a 45% Prop. 51 reduction while illogically and unfairly claiming protection under *Armenta*. *Armenta* and *Jeld-Wen* are alive and well. But eating cake in addition to having it is not?

### b. The "Coextensive" Myth.

The *Jeld-Wen* court could not have been more clear: "The damages attributable to both employer and employee *will be co-extensive*." (*Id.* at p. 871; emphasis added.) Not here. There is a second, assertedly negligent driver here. The fault attributable to Carcamo was 20%, the fault attributable to STN was 35%, and the fault attributable to Tagliaferri was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Moreover, the predictive federal decision in *Cook* was rejected by the Minnesota Court of Appeal in *M.L. v. Magnuson* (1995) 531 N.W.2d 849, 862, fn. 4 ["[W]e find [no] requir[ement] that conduct occur outside the scope of employment if the claimant is to succeed on either of these two claims [of negligent hiring or retention]. Nor can we discern any reason for imposing such a requirement."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The fact that "in fiscal year 2007-2008 alone, 28, 414 lawsuits were filed in California . . . resulting from motor vehicle accidents" (Petition, p. 22) is irrelevant. There has only been one such lawsuit in which a defendant/employer, after waiting until the end of the trial to raise the issue, then insists on the protection of *Armenta* while pocketing a rather sizeable Prop. 51 reduction.

45%—all unleashed by the Pandora's box that is Prop. 51, all within the fact-finding discretion of the jury and all triggered by defendant STN's decision to plead, defend and try this case based on a Prop. 51 defense asserting the negligence of Karen Tagliaferri.

### According to the Petition:

"Once an employer admits vicarious liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior, it is liable to the same extent as the employee—their liability is 'coextensive'—and the plaintiff has no legitimate reason to proceed against the employer for 'the same award' of damages under an alternative theory. (*Jeld-Wen, supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 871.) In these circumstances, the alternative theory becomes essentially superfluous." (Petition, p. 19.)

Common sense, the trial court, the Court of Appeal and(?) remedial math all concur: Petitioner's fundamental premise is pure bollix whenever a defendant actively (not theoretically—and especially when successfully [here a 45% reduction]) asserts a Prop. 51 discount in its liability.

### WHERE IS DEFENDANT'S ANSWER TO THIS?

Where did the Court of Appeal go wrong in stating the obvious arithmetical fact that, "Absent proof of negligent hiring and retention, the required apportionment of fault would have been impossible"? (Opinion, p. 12.) Defendant just cannot keep ignoring this elephant while insisting on further and further appellate review.

Once defendant actively pursues a Prop. 51 reduction, the

employee's and employer's negligence is no longer "co-existent" and there is no longer the "same award of damages." The whole point of Prop. 51 is not to have "co-extensive" fault or "the same amount of damages. fundamental premise of this petition is simply inaccurate. Petitioner (legally and mathematically) is flat-out wrong. By continuing (to this very day) to insist on asserting and maintaining its Prop. 51 defense, STN received a Prop. 51 reduction in the amount of Tagliaferri's 45% of the general damages (i.e., \$2,250,000) and by including negligent retention, plaintiff received \$423,500 more in general damages (assuming the jury, without STN as a part of the apportionment, would have allocated STN's 35% between Carcamo and Tagliaferri in the same ratio of 20% to Carcamo and 45% to Tagliaferri). "These claims added nothing" in Armenta and Jeld-Wen because neither employer in Armenta or Jeld-Wen sought to take advantage of a Prop. 51 reduction as did STN here. In Armenta and Jeld-Wen, "the damages attributable to both employer and employee [were] co-extensive" (and, therefore, a negligent hiring/retention entrustment claim added nothing). But that is not how defendant STN chose to defend the case here. Because of STN's decision, it made a big difference to both STN (a \$2,250,000 reduction) and to plaintiff (a \$423,500 increase). If defendant STN were jointly and severally liable for all damages, then STN would be correct in saying, "These claims added nothing." But the electorate's decision in 1986 to pass Prop. 51,

and STN's decision to assert it here to its considerable advantage, changed all that.

There is a dispositive difference between a trial involving one negligent driver and a trial involving two negligent drivers with one of them asserting a Prop. 51 defense against the plaintiff by alleging the comparative fault of the other driver. Defendant STN wants to have its cake and eat it too. But it cannot. It cannot assert a Prop. 51 defense based on Tagliaferri's comparative fault and argue that its own vicarious and direct liability is coextensive—because it is not. Defendant STN had the right and opportunity to waive or withdraw its Prop. 51 defense and thereby trigger an argument based on the logic, holding and facts of *Jeld-Wen*. But defendant STN refused to do so. It cannot now have it both ways. It cannot assert a 45% reduction in the general damages based on co-defendant Tagliaferri's comparative fault and, at the same time, rely on *Jeld-Wen*. It made a choice—a choice it must now live with.

Armenta, having been decided in 1954 and 32 years before the passage of Prop. 51, did not involve a defendant seeking to reduce its liability by asserting a Prop. 51 defense based on the apportionable, comparative fault

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Defendant STN has heretofore been wont to talk about how it makes no difference how many defendants or tortfeasors are involved. Strictly speaking, that is true. What makes the difference (and all the difference in the world) is when an employer/defendant actively pursues a Prop. 51 reduction based on the fault of another defendant or non-defendant tortfeasor.

of another tortfeasor. The damages in *Armenta*, as in *Jeld-Wen*, were co-extensive—but not here.

Defendant STN cannot both invoke Prop. 51 as a partial defense and yet exclude itself from the apportionable "universe of tortfeasors." That is not how Prop. 51 and California's system of comparative fault works. It is simply impossible to determine the 100% of the causative fault for this accident (i.e., the process triggered by STN's assertion of a Prop. 51 defense) without including the fault based on its own direct negligence.

As this Court made clear, in *DaFonte v. Up-Right, Inc.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593, 603:

"[A] 'defendant['s]' liability for noneconomic damages cannot exceed his or her proportionate share of fault as *compared with all fault responsible for the plaintiff's injuries*, . . . ." (Emphasis is the Court's.)

As the Court of Appeal observed in *Kitzig v. Nordquist* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 1384, 1399:

"Those [noneconomic] damages 'must be apportioned among [the] "universe' of tortfeasors" including "nonjoined defendants" and those who have settled with the plaintiffs."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The defendant employer in *Jeld-Wen* did not try to have it both ways. The *Jeld-Wen* employer did not seek to reduce its liability by asserting a Prop. 51 defense (as did defendant STN here). The employer in *Jeld-Wen* expressly took the position that Prop. 51 was "inapplicable" (see defendant *Jeld-Wen*'s Reply to Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandate, p. 22, 2005 WL 2901428). Of course, the defendant employer in *Armenta* did not seek a Prop. 51 reduction because *Armenta* was a pre-Prop. 51 case. Here, defendant STN (successfully) attempted to assert Prop. 51 to reduce its own liability.

How can defendant STN's "proportionate share of fault, as compared with *all fault* responsible for the plaintiff's injuries," be determined if we exclude from "all fault" that 35% share of fault attributable to defendant STN? STN seeks a "universe of tortfeasors"—but excluding STN. That is an unfair reading of the "Fair Responsibility Act," and is directly contrary to the terms of the statute (Civ. Code § 1431.2) and Supreme Court law.<sup>11</sup>

Indeed, when the Court of Appeal pointed out that a recent decision clearly concluded that negligently entrusting a car to an unlicensed driver (i.e., one of the "alternative theories" identified in *Armenta* and *Jeld-Wen*) was "independent" liability (i.e., independent of vicarious liability under the owners' liability statute), that same case also held that one of the defendants should have been able to pursue her Prop. 51 defense and have *all fault* determined and allocated.

In Bayer-Bel v. Litovsky (2008) 159 Cal. App. 4th 396 (cited at page 5 of the Opinion):

<sup>&</sup>quot;See Haning, Flahavan et al., Cal. Prac. Guide: Personal Injury (The Rutter Group 2009) ¶ 2:261, p. 2-69 ["There may be cases where the employer can be sued on *other* theories as well—e.g., negligent entrustment, negligent supervision or perhaps negligent hiring. If there is an *independent basis* for holding the employer liable, it will usually be to plaintiff's advantage to plead *both* the respondeat superior *and* independent liability theories. Reason: In multi-defendant cases, the trier of fact will have to make a separate determination of what percentage of fault is attributable to the employer under the *independent* theory; the employer, in turn, will be liable for that portion of noneconomic damages resulting from *both* the fault allocated to the employee *and* the fault allocated to the employer on the independent theory!" (Original Italics.)].

"This is a tort action in which three defendants caused an automobile accident, one by negligently driving the car, the other two by negligently entrusting the car to the unlicensed driver. A jury found all three liable to the plaintiff and allocated fault among the three defendants, and the trial court, in entering judgment on the verdict, made the driver jointly and severally liable for the entire judgment (noneconomic as well as economic damages), finding that Proposition 51 did not apply. The driver appeals, contending her liability for the plaintiff's noneconomic damages should be several and limited to the amount of fault allocated to her by the jury. We agree." (*Id.* at p. 397.)

Here is why Division One of the Second District agreed:

"In our case, at least two of the independently acting defendants' liability is primary—Litovsky because she was negligently driving the car at the time of the crash, and Green because he negligently entrusted the car to the unlicensed Litovsky. (Blake v. Moore (1984) 162 Cal.App.3d 700, 707, 208 Cal.Rptr. 703 [negligent entrustment is an independent tort].) It follows that Litovsky's liability for Bayer-Bel's noneconomic damages is several, not joint, and that she is liable only for the amount of noneconomic damages allocated to her by the jury. [Citation.]" (Id. at p. 400; emphasis added.)

Accordingly, the *Bayer-Bel* Court's "Disposition" was that the negligent driver [the analog here being Sugar Transport/Carcamo] is "only severally liable for 40 percent of the 40 percent of [plaintiff's] noneconomic damages." (*Id.* at p. 400.) Here, Sugar Transport took this rule of law (i.e., allowing tortfeasors to assert Prop. 51 in negligent entrustment cases as recognized in *Bayer-Bel*) to obtain a 45% reduction of its liability for noneconomic damages—one which it is not offering to give back. To boot, Sugar Transport is asking to keep the 45% reduction due to Tagliaferri's proportionate share within the universe of fault and tortfeasors while opting

itself (and its relative, apportioned, causative culpability) out of that very same zero-sum universe. While plaintiff has repeatedly referred to this unique advocacy position aphoristically as "trying to have your cake and eat it too," perhaps it is more akin to a student who is asked to take attendance but fails to count herself.

- 2. Armenta And Jeld-Wen Were Explicitly And Repeatedly Based On The Defendant Employer's "Admi[ssion] Before Trial To Vicarious Liability" Which Defendant STN Did Not Do Here.
  - a. The Binding Pretrial Stipulation Requirement.12

The *Jeld-Wen* court (again, in the distinguishable "one negligent driver" context) based its ruling on the following:

"Once an employer has admitted before trial to vicarious liability for its employee's negligence, if proven, the exclusionary rule of Evidence Code section 1104 operates to protect the employer from being exposed to prejudicial evidence that would be used to show the employer's prior knowledge of an employee's prior accidents, for purposes of imposing direct and separate liability on the employer." (Jeld-Wen at 131 Cal.App.4th 870; emphasis added.)

Also see *Jeld-Wen* at 858 [". . . where, as here, there is a binding *pretrial* admission. . . ." (emphasis added)]; *Jeld-Wen* at 870 [". . . *based on the employer's pretrial admission* of liability for any alleged negligence of the employee, which is binding on the employer" (emphasis added).]; and *Jeld-Wen* at 871 ["As applied here, *the employer is admitting on a pretrial basis* to vicarious liability for the employee's negligence" (emphasis added).]. The

٦

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>This not a mere "procedural nicety." It is a substantive requirement for the threshold application of *Armenta/Jeld-Wen*.

defendant employer in *Jeld-Wen* admitted course and scope during discovery and in a declaration and then moved for summary adjudication. *Jeld-Wen* was a pretrial writ proceeding. In *Armenta*, the "defendants admitted in their answer the agency and scope of employment of Dale Churchill." (*Armenta* at 42 Cal.2d 456.)

Here, Petitioner STN did neither.

Here, the requisite stipulation came in the middle of the trial. The parties answered ready for trial (CT-I, 44), filed motions in limine on negligent hiring (*id.*, 45-50), argued the motions (*id.*, 68, 86), briefed the 402 hearing on negligent hiring (*id.*, 71-87), participated in the 402 hearing on negligent hiring (RT-1, 77 et seq.), filed trial briefs (CT-I, 96-108), picked a jury and gave opening statements (RT-1, 77-163), examined and cross-examined seven witnesses (RT-1, 164–RT-2, 345)—*all without a stipulation from defendant regarding respondeat superior liability*.

If the issues which defendant STN seeks to generate review were ever in any need of Supreme Court resolution, this case, where the issue was not preserved and presented below, would seem to be a singularly inappropriate and ill-suited vehicle.

# b. The Record Reflects The Requisite Stipulation Coming In The Middle Of The Trial.

Here, in her complaint, plaintiff alleged respondeat superior

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